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Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr Lee Man Bun
Mr Tan Siak Him, Alexander
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In Hong Kong:

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (HK) Ltd
Citibank, N.A.

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Agricultural Bank of China
Bank of China
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WEBSITE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW & OUTLOOK

For the financial year of 2004/2005, the group achieved a turnover
of HK$2,771 million and has recorded a net profit of HK$418
million. This represents an increase in turnover of 63% and an
increase in net profit of 47% over the same period last year. The
major reason for the increases is capacity growth. PM5, our fifth
production line with an annual capacity of 250,000MT, started
operation early 2004. It is now running at full capacity and making
contributions to the Group. PM6, our sixth production line with an
annual capacity of 300,000MT, and just began operation in
September 2004. Although PM6 is not running at the expected
efficiencies, after further tuning for a period of time, it is expected
to make further contributions to the Group in years to come.

During the year, the management was able to take a significant
step to implement the Group’s business strategy by vertically
integrating its operation. In February 2005, the Group acquired a
pulp mill with an annual capacity of 200,000MT which is located
at Samoa, California, United States. Only half of its production
volume is adequate to fulfill our existing demand of pulp while the
remaining will be placed on the market for sale and in return bring
us profit. Strategically, the management believes the acquisition in
North America is a very important step in the Group’s business
development. It would reduce our dependence on the outside
pulp suppliers and at the same time generating extra income,
profit and lowering our existing paper production costs.

Looking ahead, the Group has begun construction of its third
paper production industrial park located at Dongguan Hongmei,
which will allow it to capture the continuously growing demand
for quality containerboard in the Pearl River Delta region. PM7,
our seventh production machine and our first production line at
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Dongguan Hongmei, is expected to begin operation in January
2006. It will have an annual production capacity of 400,000MT of
linerboard. Upon completion, the Group’s total containerboard
and pulp production capacity will reach 1.6 million metric tons
and 0.2 million metric tons respectively. The Group anticipates a
further improvement in its performance.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung, Patrick

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DT

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Turnover and net profit attributable to shareholders for the year
ended 31 March 2005 was HK$2,771 million and HK$418 million,
representing an increase of 63% and 47%, as compared to
HK$1,701 million and HK$285 million, respectively, for last year.
The earnings per share for the year was HK43.54 cents when
compared with HK40.71 cents for last year.

The increase in turnover and net profit were mainly attributable to
the significant increase in the Group’s sales of containerboard
mainly due to the result of the full year commercial operation of
the paper machine V which started in January 2004 and the
commenced commercial operation of the paper machine VI in
September 2004.

DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The Group’s distribution costs and administrative expenses
increased by approximately 130% and 72% from HK$23.7 million
and HK$64.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2004 to
HK$54.5 million and HK$111.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2005 respectively as a result of the expansion in the
operation of the Group and the increase in the Group’s turnover

during the year.

INTEREST EXPENSES

The Group's interest expenses was HK$11.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2005 as compared to HK$15.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2004. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in average amount of outstanding bank loans during the
year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 113 days and 7 days, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2004 as compared to 85 days and 12 days,
respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2005. This exhibits
continued strong demand from our customers.
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The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 66 days for the year
ended 31 March 2005 as compared to 62 days for the year ended
31 March 2004. This is in line with the credit terms of around 45
days to 60 days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group’s creditors’ turnover days were 34 days for the year
ended 31 March 2004 as compared to 16 days for the year ended
31 March 2005 as the Group settle much of its creditor balances
with surplus cash.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2005
was HK$3,041 million (31 March 2004: HK$1,903 million). As at
31 March 2005, the Group had current assets of HK$1,372 million
(31 March 2004: HK$1,270 million) and current liabilities of
HK$921 million (31 March 2004: HK$838 million). The current
ratio was 1.49 as at 31 March 2005 as compared to 1.51 at 31
March 2004.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cashflow and credit facilities provided by its principal
bankers in Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2005, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$769 million (31
March 2004: HK$888 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings
net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity)
decreased from 0.47 as at 31 March 2004 to 0.23 as at 31 March
2005 as enhanced after the completion of the Placement and
Subscription in April 2004.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE TR

The Group’s liquidity position remains strong and the Group
possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet
its commitments,
investments for expansion.

working capital requirements and future

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March 2005.
During the year ended 31 March 2005, the Group did not employ
any financial instrument for hedging purposes.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACEMENT AND SUBSCRIPTION
The net proceeds from the Placement and Subscription which was
completed in April 2004, of approximately HK$804 million, was
earmarked as to approximately HK$500 million for the acquisition
cost of the main unit paper machine VIl and costs of ancillary and
support equipment such as preparation unit, pumps and cranes
which are expected to be incurred over the next one year. The
proceeds from the Subscription not immediately applied towards
the purchase of paper machine VIl have been employed as general
working capital.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2005, the Group had a workforce of more than
2,400 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the
relevant labour market and economic situation. The Group also
provides internal training to staff and provides bonuses based
upon staff performance and profits of the Company.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes
nor has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains a good
relationship with its employees.

The Group has a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme whereby
employees of the Group are granted options to acquire shares in
the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
Annual Report 2004/05

EERGREEEBNT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, aged 62, Chairman of the
Company and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff
management, corporate strategy and planning, building
construction and public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has
over 42 years of experience in manufacturing and international
trade. Mr Lee is the Chairman of the Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association, a standing member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Guangdong Province and an honorary
principal of the Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan
Guoxing Secondary School. He has also been awarded honorary

citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond, aged 34, Chief Executive Officer
as well as founder of the Company, is primarily in charge of day to
day corporate strategy, corporate planning and overall
management of the Group. Mr Lee has over ten years of
operational experience in paper manufacturing and related
business and has been overseeing the development of the paper
business. He is experienced in product development, purchasing of
raw materials and selling of paper. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
applied science from the University of British Columbia. Mr Lee is
also involved in a number of public engagements including being
a standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Hainan, the Vice-chairman of Yan Chai Hospital Advisory Board,
the Honorary President of the Kowloon region of the Scout
Association of Hong Kong and the President of the Hong Kong
Road Safety Association. Mr Lee has also been awarded honorary
citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu.
In November 2002, Mr Lee was awarded the “Young Industrialist
Award of HongKong 2002” by the Federation of the Hong Kong
Industries. In addition, in November 2003, Mr Lee was also
awarded the “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons
Selection Awardee” by Hong Kong Junior Chamber. Mr Lee is the

eldest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EXNEREEEEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 25, Managing Director of the Company,
is responsible for construction of Hongmei Industrial Park, repair
and maintenance of production machines and factory staff
management. Mr Lee holds a bachelor’s degree of Applied Science
in Chemical Engineering from the University of British Columbia in
Canada. He is also the director of Yan Chai Hospital Board of
Directors. He joined the Group in July 2003. Mr Lee is the
youngest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick.

Mr Tan Siak Him, Alexander, aged 47, is responsible for
procurement of OCC and import businesses. He also assists in
liaising and maintaining relationships with various governmental
authorities in the PRC. Mr Tan Joined the Group in October 2000.
He has over 27 years of experience in the management of both
multinational and local manufacturing companies in China.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS Jp, aged 65, the non-
executive director of the Group, is currently the President of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and has over 30 years working
experience in educational sector. He was honoured as one of the
“Ten Outstanding Young Persons in Hong Kong” in 1979; was
appointed Non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989; received
the OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung, Tony, aged 62, an independent non-
executive Director of the Group, has been a practicing lawyer in
Hong Kong since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in
England and Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs.
Hastings & Co., Solicitors and Notaries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng, aged 57, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, is the Managing Partner of Morison Heng,
Chartered Accountants and Certified Public Accountants in Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. He has worked with a
number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange either in the
capacity of company secretary or as an independent non-executive
director.

Ms Law Kar Shui, Elizabeth, aged 56, an independent non-
executive Director of the Group, is the director of Park Hotel
Limited,
International Group Limited. She has over 30 years’ experience in

International and previously the director of Laws
textile and garment industries and was responsible for the
management of the sweater and knitwear business. She has also
property
development. She is the General Manager of Park Hotel and the

over 10 years’ experience in investment and
Director of a number of business enterprises, responsible for the

overall management and strategic planning of the businesses.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 38, is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group responsible for the supervision and management of
the Group’s financial matters and company secretary of the
Company. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Society of Accountants and has over 16 years of
experience in the field of auditing and accounting. Mr Cheung
holds a professional diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He joined the Group in August 2002.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Mr Li King Wai,
Huangyong factory responsible for the daily production operation

Ross, aged 30, is the executive manager of
and factory management of Huangyong Lee & Man as well as
maintaining relationship of various government departments in
Dongguan. Mr Li holds a Masters Degree in Science (Electrical
Engineering) from Stanford University in U.S.A. and a bachelor’s
degree of Applied Science (Computer Engineering) from University
of British Columbia in Canada. Mr Li has over 7 years of

experience in production management and in technological
research & development. Prior to joining the group, Mr Li was
involved in the management of computer graphics design at Sun
Microsystems, Silicon Valley, U.S.A. He joined the Group in
December 2002.

Mr Lau Kwok Keung, aged 48, is the executive manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man responsible for the daily operation and
management of Dongguan Lee & Man. Mr Lau holds a bachelor’s
degree of science (engineering) from Imperial College of Science
and Technology, University of London. He has over 17 years of
factory operation and management experience. He joined the

Group in July 2003.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 45, is the project manager of the
Group responsible for expansion and development projects. Mr
Chan holds a bachelor’s degree of science in engineering from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr Chan has over 22 vyears of
operational experience in managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses and joined the Group in
January 2001.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 36, is the sales manager of the Group
responsible for sales and marketing. Ms Lam holds a higher certificate
in marketing and sales management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms Lam has over 15 years of work experience in sales and
marketing. She joined the Group in March 1996.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr Lu Man Sheng, aged 58, is a production manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man responsible for the management of paper
manufacturing. Mr Lu holds a professional engineer certificate for
paper manufacturing stock preparation from the Guangxi School
of Light Industry. Mr Lu has over 35 years of experience in paper
manufacturing and production management. He joined the Group
in May 1994.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 36, is a production manager of the
Group’s production plants responsible for paper production
management and engineering matters. Mr Chan has over 17 years
of experience in overseeing production matters in the paper
manufacturing business. Mr Chan joined the Group in April 1999.

Mr Wu Xiao Shi, aged 38, is the power plant manager of the
Group responsible for management of power production. Mr Wu
holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Dongnan University.
Mr Wu has over 16 years of experience in power production
management. Mr Wu joined the Group in December 1999.

Mr Wu Pak Ping, aged 38, is the infrastructure manager
responsible for the planning and development of the infrastructure
of the Group’'s production facilities. Mr Wu holds a bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from the University of Hunan and has
over in planning and managing

19 vyears of experience

infrastructure. He joined the Group in April 1997.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
32 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2005 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 27.

The directors of the Company recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.18 per share for the year ended 31 March
2005 to the shareholders on the register of members on 12
August 2005, amounting to approximately HK$173,409,000,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in note 21 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$649 million for the
purpose of expanding its business. Details of this and other
movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors
Lee Wan Keung, Patrick (Chairman)
Lee Man Chun, Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Tan Siak Him, Alexander
Lee Man Bun
(appointed on 16 August 2004)

Non-executive director
Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS, JP
(appointed on 1 February 2005)

Independent non-executive directors
Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Heng Kwoo Seng
Law Kar Shui, Elizabeth
(appointed on 1 January 2005)

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr Lee Man Bun, Professor Poon Chung
Kwong and Ms Law Kar Shui, Elizabeth retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond and Mr
Tan Siak Him, Alexander, have entered into service agreements
with the Company for an initial period of four years commencing
1 September 2003, which will continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16
August 2004, which will continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive
directors is the period up to his retirement as required by the
Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2005, the relevant interests or short positions of
the directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which are required to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange"”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO)) or were required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or were required,
pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
relating to securities transactions by directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions

(a)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

ESNTETBRABRBRAGESRES
THEENERRKE

R-ZFTRAF=ZA=1+—RH ARARES
FETBITBRABEARAKEBEEE (E
ERESRPEHR (BHEBERD]) F
TR OG- HERDREST - BE
WARBZE RMERIIE+AEHETRFES
DEMRENERARANBEBHEXZMER
AR (R MARERSOAR (BREE
RIFES L RE GO BB IESRRIERE
FHRANBRIAR) AIRBEEZF LI E K
{5 55 352 {6 7B RC 8k 10 =% 16 P 48 1O & RC i AU A9
BEIRRURBMIMES LHRA ([ L
MRADBRAEFETESFIHNBRBIKX
AMERRB BRI ANERIORBMT ¢

)
@) ALEIEFREEO.10/8TTH B EK

Number of
ordinary shares
subject to options
granted under the
Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme

Percentage of
the issued
share capital of

BROBER the Company

Number of A B Rt 8 HARAFE

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares B8 B B A ERTRA

EEHR &1 EERHEE PROEERHA ERig

Lee Wan Keung, Patrick Held by controlled 716,228,000 — 74.35%
FiEog corporation (Note)

BEESEEFE ()
Lee Man Chun, Raymond  Held by controlled 716,228,000 — 74.35%

FXHE

corporation (Note)

AXEHEERSE (HE)



Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
Annual Report 2004/05

Long positions (Continued) e (&)
(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (a) ARE]ERETEO. 108 L) ZEBIR ()
(Continued)

Number of
ordinary shares
subject to options

granted under the Percentage of
Pre-IPO Share the issued
Option Scheme share capital of
BERADHER the Company
Number of AR AESTE RN
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares O RE R R AT ERITRA
BExEps g4 ZEREE SRHEBERHEA Bk
Lee Man Bun Held by controlled 716,228,000 — 74.35%
=3 Q) corporation (Note)
RXEHEERA (M)
Tan Siak Him, Alexander Beneficial owner — 1,986,000 0.21%
PR i5 2 ERBEAA
Wong Kai Tung, Tony Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 0.10%
TRE ERBEAA
Heng Kwoo Seng Beneficial owner — 1,800,000 0.19%
i ERBEAA
Note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best"), Mzt © ZEMRMEB Gold Best Holdings Ltd.
whose entire issued share capital is held by Trustcorp Limited (I'Gold Bestl) ##  Gold Best &%
(“Trustcorp”) as trustee for The Fortune Star 1992 Trust, a HEEITRA B  Trustcorp Limited
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include Mr ([Trustcorp) ) LA The Fortune Star
Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond and Mr Lee 1992 Trust KWEsEAB D H © The
Man Bun (all of them are directors of the Company), certain of Fortune Star 1992 Trust & — B2 # =
their family members and other charitable objects. O EeREIHEARETEREE

FXEAEERFOREE (RBHR/A
NAEESE) WENETREKRE LA
hEEERE -
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Long positions (Continued) e (&)
(b)  Ordinary shares of the associated corporations of the (b) A AR [ A B R
Company
Percentage of
the issued
share capital
Number of of the associated
associated Number of corporation
Name of director Capacity corporation ordinary shares EAEEEE
BEEpE 27 HEEZE AR ZERHE BRTREABIL
Lee Wan Keung, Patrick Held by controlled Gold Best 5 100%
FiEoR corporation (Note)
R EHEERA ()
Lee Man Chun, Raymond  Held by controlled Gold Best 5 100%
30 corporation (Note)
R EHEERA (M)
Lee Man Bun Held by controlled Gold Best 5 100%
3§k corporation (Note)

AXEHEERSE (HE)

Note: As Gold Best owns more than 50% interest of the Company,
Gold Best is an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by
Trustcorp as trustee for The Fortune Star 1992 Trust, a
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include Mr
Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond and Mr Lee
Man Bun (all of them are directors of the Company), certain of
their family members and other charitable objects.

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee
shares in subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the
Company, none of the directors or the chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as at 31 March 2005.

Mzt : @ Gold Best #EA AR AS50%M E
o BEFHFRBHEHES - Gold
Best A7Z8 A &l ) 1HE A B o Gold Best
B2 EPE BATARRZANE  Trustcorp A
The Fortune Star 1992 Trust B{5 7L A
519%5 48 ° The Fortune Star 1992
Trust EB—HEEERL HE2EXH
ABEZTERELE TN BREERS
SOREE (R ARARES) &
EMETRHRAEREMESEE

o

BEXPRBEENNGTETESER
RAAMNEEFEARERRFEETH
BARMETERNIN RZFETRF=
A=+—HB 8&% IETHRAER
MEFMBE A LBEAE AN R R A
MHEOEB M D - AR HEST
BETMERIRE °
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes, namely Share
Option Scheme and Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, are set out in
note 23 to the financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme during the year.

B

AARBRETE (WERESSREAA
FERATERETE) OFBHRITBRE
MisE23 -

TREBEARARANERAFERAERE
ARHBANEFBER -

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon exercise of the share

options
REREEBTERET
BANARARGHAE
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1.4.2004 Exercised  at 31.3.2005
Exercisable Z—ZEMF during ZZERF
period mA—H theyear Z=A=+—H

TR i AR AT HMATHE i AR AT B

Exercise price
Name Date of grant per share
g BREBEH SROEE
HK$
BT
Category 1: Directors
B-H EBE
Tan Siak Him, Alexander SETF 11.9.2003 4.17
Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRE 11.9.2003 4.17
Heng Kwoo Seng JilER 11.9.2003 417
Total Directors EEHY

Category II: Other employees

-8 8

Employees (== 11.9.2003 417
Category Ill: Others

FZEEM

Consultants 8 11.9.2003 417
Total B

26.3.2004 to 3,000,000 (1,014,000) 1,986,000
25.9.2006

26.3.2004 to 1,000,000 — 1,000,000
25.9.2006

26.3.2004 to 1,800,000 — 1,800,000
25.9.2006

5,800,000 (1,014,000) 4,786,000

26.3.2004 to 4,894,000 (840,000) 4,054,000
25.9.2006

26.3.2004 to 1,900,000 (1,000,000) 900,000
25.9.2006

12,594,000 (2,854,000) 9,740,000
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EXxgWmE

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)
No options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

The closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date which the options were exercised were as follows:

Number of share options exercised

BIRE (E)
B BB S ERAIAR - AR ERIE
B R ME AT &1 AR (] B AL -

ARR DR ERETER A — R 2T
BT

Closing price before the date of exercise

NEREETFEEROEA TEBHAKTHE
HK$
BT
254,000 7.45
764,000 6.95
806,000 5.90
1,030,000 5.80
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES EERERDBELFNED

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or
any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other
body corporate and none of the directors, their spouses or
children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

R EX TR ] — 8 FA I EEE S - AR
HiEfnm - HEMRREHE QRS ER
) HA P A ) B FR) A3 48 BT ST R & B - BUfE
ARBEFAEBEBARR S EAME
AEEBHOERNKEHES (BREEER) ME
BMaE MEEFHARFNEBIHISHAT
B FRINER BB ARRFEFHEMERN
INEAT AL FHER -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2005, the following persons (other than directors RZZEERF=A=+—H TIAXERQ
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short FIEZHFTBITHABERIN ERQAFTHYL
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company which fall to be BRFHEBFEEFLMHSEHNE+ RIS
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and  2& 235 SRR E A M AR A B A &k
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register %2 - iR 1B E % & 2 & 16 5] £ 336154 1R
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the TEERBENAATLRZIEFENELMHALN

SFO: EHIOKE -
Long positions e
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company KB R ETEO0.10 & T /9 3 i
Percentage of
the issued
share capital of
the Company
Number of (NN
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares 2RITRAE
BREE g 4 ZERHA B
Gold Best Beneficial owner 716,228,000 74.35%
EmEAA
Trustcorp Held by controlled corporation 716,228,000 74.35%
RXZEGHEEEE
Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note) 716,228,000 74.35%
TEER mEEFEE (M)
Note: Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these  BisE @ REZFHFMPEEN  HRAEZTEHELZTE
716,228,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung, B(ARAER)NEBS  WEEAEEEZ
Patrick, a director of the Company. 716,228,000% & 3B AX H) #E %5 ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2005, the Company had B EXFTIETEEI  R_ZEZERF=A =+
not been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief —H @ BETMALT (KA EERETET
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positionsin A EBRIN HE RN T » BHELEKRQ AN
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall XD SRR R B IR 5 B 5 RS 1560
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 S+ R & E2 M E 30 S 8I8 FA B AR T
and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the BEWEZH AR  HBREZFHELBFEENE
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of  336{§H R FEC RHE N AR AKX EF B W
the SFO. BLMANERIORE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEXRS

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are A& [EHZE T # 5 &
set out in note 31 to the financial statements. In the opinion of  FRMFE31 > B IFHTT

PR R NP
the independent non-executive directors, these transactions EJMH) E#iR5 :
entered into by the Group were:

RARBHHEE R —REHBIETA]

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; i b
VA

(i) either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is (i) J3 (a2 — MR RG ¥ B ZETT + ()M

no available comparison, on terms that were fair and EAMAIHEERE AR EAQRFRE
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are MEBAFTEIE BBERETIL
concerned;

(i) either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (i) J3(a)i& W s G R ET 32 sk (b)if EZ &

(b) where there are no such agreements, on terms no less g - B TBR G TEYE =808
favourable than those available to or from independent third VE=ZERENBERE L &
parties; and

(iv)  within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock (v) Fr# K &I EBL BB SHAETHNE
Exchange. B LRE5E -

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which B EXFTHEEN - TWELMAEMR F AR
are required to be disclosed as connected transactions in BB ETMEINBEEABELZHELSE -
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS EENaER

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”, BrRIBEX S| —EIMEEEIN  KNAGR - &
there were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its A7 « EEA R ZHE Q& SH B A 7
holding company or any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries LRI R F & H S FRNERFRDAE
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a ¥ BARAEEEEAEEEHETEEE
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the KFIZHEBE A B L °

end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS TEEFRHESD

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the RN AEBER AMHEFGERAEEARESE
Group's five largest suppliers comprised approximately 44% of the  #)44% - MASEEZ A EFEIERERE
Group's total purchases and the purchases attributable to the IREEZEE#922% -

Group’s largest supplier were approximately 22% of the Group's

total purchases.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continued)

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which,
to the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share
capital of any of the five largest suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 March 2005.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
bye-laws, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors of listed companies on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model
Code"), and have made enquiries with the directors that they have
complied with the Model Code.

TERFRHER (&)
FA-AEERREFHNAHEREANEE
BIHEBEIN30% -

MEBEIMNES  RENPEALTREMBR
(RMEZFRAEALRRAC EITRAS%IA
BIREAAREERAFEROBRATES

BEEYREEARRA LTRSS
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RHAZABREFERE
BARBANSEEZAREMARIERES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31 March REZ-_ZFEERF=A=+—HIHH &
2005 with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of A F— BT FHRBIKER14 PAE O HE
the Listing Rules. FERSFA ©

The Company has received, from each of the independent non- ARARIEEESBIIFNTES FEER

/her
independence pursuant to Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The

executive directors, an annual confirmation of his
Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors

are independent.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$50,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung, Patrick
Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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¥ B0 3 &

Deloitte.
=)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 27 to 75
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing
financial statements which give a true and fair view it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on
our audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of
Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.
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BASIS OF OPINION (Continued)

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
statements.

financial We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March
2005 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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For the year ended 31 March 2005

K

E-TEAF=A=+—ALLFE

2005 2004
—EERHF —ETNEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHE T FH& T
Turnover = =L 2,771,423 1,701,055
Cost of sales 55 A A (2,197,992) (1,322,703)
Gross profit E A 573,431 378,352
Other operating income H fib e A 27,199 15,220
Distribution costs U= 1) (54,547) (23,728)
Administrative expenses 1T E M (111,235) (64,708)
Profit from operations 5 B F| 5 434,848 305,136
Interest on bank borrowings ARAFANBHEN
wholly repayable within WIRTTEENF S
five years (11,412) (15,008)
Profit before taxation & %4 A & 7 423,436 290,128
Taxation ] 7 (5,693) (5,250)
Profit for the year FREEAN 417,743 284,878
Dividend % & 8 96,155 —
Earnings per share T 1% & A 9
— Basic — HEAK 43.54 cents fili  40.71 cents 1llI
— Diluted — g 43.36 cents fill  40.50 cents 1l
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEEREX

At 31 March 2005

—ETERHRFE=RA=+—H

2005 2004
—ERRE —ZTTWF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FATT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% BB M & E 10 2,584,293 2,025,562
Deposits paid on acquisition of BEWX - BMERXEMNET £
property, plant and
equipment 11 148,174 113,359
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE E 24 8,860 —
2,741,327 2,138,921
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 13 548,364 469,070
Trade and bills receivable JE U BR R N IR 14 504,649 287,718
Notes receivable JrE W 15 26,643 —
Deposits, prepayments and e - BN KRIE K E b IR
other receivables 207,731 158,998
Retirement benefit assets RINEFE E 30 1,320 1,254
Amount due from a related FEU B BEE A Bl 3R IE
company 16 612 1,444
Taxation recoverable A U @] 7 18 92 =
Pledged bank deposits AT 17 SR AR 27 1,055 —
Bank balances and cash RITEHREBR S 81,600 351,718
1,372,066 1,270,202
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and bills payable ERNERRERE 17 97,762 120,574
Accruals and other payables FEEt B A Rk E A fE S 5RIB 192,253 122,915
Taxation payable FE A B IR 12,730 7,250
Land costs payable JE {5 £ b AR AN 18 — 9,553
Unsecured bank borrowings ERBIRITEE
— due within one year — —F AR 19 618,474 578,196
921,219 838,488
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 450,847 431,714
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EE#LEBERABEE
LIABILITIES 3,192,174 2,570,635
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2005 2004
—E2EERFE —TTMF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & & T FA T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Amount due to ultimate JE 15 B 4% ¥ i% A B 50R
holding company 20 — 357,485
Unsecured bank borrowings ERBIRITEE
— due after one year — —F 1% 2 Hf 19 150,713 309,752
150,713 667,237
3,041,461 1,903,398
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R AR #E
Share capital % 7 21 96,338 84,053
Reserves ik 18 2,945,123 1,819,345

3,041,461 1,903,398

The financial statements on pages 27 to 75 were approved and 272 F 75BN FEHEEN_ZZH
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2005 4N A-+/\BRKE =St R IFETIZ

and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIIEERREE
Lee Wan Keung, Patrick Z=#&E i Lee Man Chun, Raymond Z= X &
Chairman ¥ J& Director & %
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EERER

—ETERHRFE=RA=+—H

BALANCE SHEET

At 31 March 2005

2005 2004
—EERFE —TEME
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FH T FH& T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN X 12 2,703,305 2,168,742
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H b fE U FRIE 165 5,206
Amounts due from subsidiaries & YT B A 7 5K IB 12 189,871 —
Bank balances RITHE R 325 335,642
190,361 340,848
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBaE
Other payables H A FE - 5018 602 415
Unsecured bank borrowings EEBIRITEE
— due within one year — —F A E|HE 19 159,133 85,526
159,735 85,941
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 30,626 254,907
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHABERABAERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,733,931 2,423,649
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERS

Amount due to ultimate holding J&{f & &2 A A 7K A
company 20 — 357,485

Unsecured bank borrowings EEBIRITEE
— due after one year — —F &5 H 19 150,713 309,752
150,713 667,237
2,583,218 1,756,412

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAE#E

Share capital % 21 96,338 84,053
Reserves ik 1 22 2,486,880 1,672,359
2,583,218 1,756,412

Lee Wan Keung, Patrick Z & i
Chairman % &

Lee Man Chun, Raymond Z= X &

Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES o
IN EQUITY RERERE R

For the year ended 31 March 2005 HE-_TTAF=A=1+—BILEE
Share Share  Translation Special Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve profit Total
LA R EE EX GG KBl G 23 EAN B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TRT TRT TAET

At 1 April 2003 “EE=FMA—H — — 18,950 1 475,565 494,516
Issue of shares on acquisition Y B i B A R AT (D

of subsidiaries 3,000 — — — — 3,000
Issue of shares under global BEEREEETRG

offering 18,750 763,125 — — — 781,875
Issue of shares by capitalisation BRERHEERTER

of share premium BIIRH 53,250 (53,250) — — — —
Issue of shares on exercise of R R 2 I e B AR

over-allotment option and BaEmETRR

share options 9,053 368,457 — — — 377,510
Expenses incurred in connection BORDAEENEX

with the issue of shares — (35,894) — — — (35,894)
Exchange differences arising BERRNGEBRRER

from translation of financial BB 7B MO X 5 0 7

statements of operations REMEENEREE

outside Hong Kong not
recognised in the consolidated

income statement — — 513 — — 513
Reserve arising on group EESEMEENRE

reorganisation — — — (3,000) — (3,000)
Profit for the year FEAF — — — — 284,878 284,878
At 31 March 2004 —“EENE=A=+—H 84,053 1,042,438 19,463 (2,999) 760,443 1,903,398
Issue of new shares BITER 12,000 797,400 — — — 809,400
Issue of shares on exercise of EEREETERRITRG

share options 285 11,616 — — — 11,901
Expenses incurred in connection BORPAEENRX

with the issue of shares — (4,826) — — — (4,826)
Profit for the year FEAMN — — — — 417,743 417,743
Dividend paid (note 8) ids) — — — — (96,155) (96,155)
At 31 March 2005 —EZRF=A=+—H 96,338 1,846,628 19,463 (2,999) 1,082,031 3,041,461

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference AEEMERIFERRERAEEAEEARD
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the &I AR 1D 7EBE < B b 1M 28 B 7K & B ZR R Py s
subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the corporate {THISEBEEAUWIEMBAN B R AMKRAE
reorganisation to rationalise the structure of the Group in {ERFEEAQRFKEEEMETHRMOE
preparation for the listing of the Company's shares on the Stock {ER)Z%E

Exchange, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued

for the acquisition.



Box & #® B R A A
& g 2004/05

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT %‘?Aiﬁﬁl)lbié‘%
For the year ended 31 March 2005 HE-_TTAF=A=1+—BILEE
2005 2004
—EERE _TTWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T THE T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES S84
Profit from operations 4 2 H| 434,848 305,136
Adjustments for: y=3 NS =
Amortisation of loan BHEEFES
arrangement fees 1,668 278
Interest income A B U A (668) (412)
Depreciation and amortisation & K 5 83,641 54,972
Loss on disposal of property, HEMHE BEREKBELED
plant and equipment &5 18 6,816 37
Operating cash flows before LEESEHINLERERE
movements in working capital 526,305 360,011
Increase in inventories FE#EM (79,294) (211,223)
Increase in trade and JFE W BR 3 % AR A N
bills receivable (216,151) (131,131)
Increase in deposits, e - TAN FRIE K E b fE Y FR IR 38 N
prepayments and
other receivables (48,733) (140,224)
Increase in retirement benefit R PRAR & = 1 0
assets (66) (59)
Decrease (increase) in amount JiE UWe A5 B8 5 2 B ZRIE R A (38 hn)
due from a related company 832 (760)
(Decrease) increase in trade and  JEBR R M Z 4% Opt 2>) 50
bills payable (22,812) 57,741
Increase in accruals and FEET B B & B Ath FE {5 3R IE 8 0
other payables 69,338 7,519
Cash generated from (used in) &2 EKELS (FHH) WES
operations 229,419 (58,126)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBBERNGH (92) —
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income 2T BN EFFEH
Tax paid (9,073) —
Interest paid B FLE (11,412) (15,008)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) KEXREE (R HNRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 208,842 (73,134)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Purchase of property, BEWE  BWELEZE
plant and equipment (545,397) (619,159)
Deposits paid on acquisition BEVE BELXEAN2
of property, plant
and equipment (148,174) (113,359)
Purchase of notes g B8 = 4% (27,423) —
Increase in pledged bank AT 17 I N
deposits (1,055) —
Interest received B U A B 668 412
Proceeds from disposal HEWE BMERZXEMSRIE
of property, plant
and equipment 15 982
NET CASH USED IN BEEIHHANES BE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (721,366) (731,124)




Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
Annual Report 2004/05

2005 2004
—EERE —_ZTTNE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#& T T#& T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
New bank loans raised MESRTER 1,407,068 2,304,453
Net proceeds from issue BATR D 1SR 5
of shares 458,990 1,123,491
Repayment of bank loans EERITERK (1,525,161)  (1,855,050)
Dividend paid EENE ) (96,155) —
Advance from ultimate holding S 445 % A &) 25
company — 357,485
Repayment to former ultimate BT R REZERRAF
holding company — (795,000)
Loan arrangement fee paid ENEEFESR — (5,000)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING REEEMERLSEE
ACTIVITIES 244,742 1,130,379
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE BERESEEY (RL) BNFHE
IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (267,782) 326,121
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R& R R & S E Y& AT 4 64
BROUGHT FORWARD 349,382 23,261
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE R RS L EYREE
CARRIED FORWARD 81,600 349,382
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE BEeRBESEEYESRDN
OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 81,600 351,718
Bank overdraft SRITEX — (2,336)
81,600 349,382
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B % R R M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2005

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Its ultimate holding
company is Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 32.

POTENTIAL IMPACT ARISING FROM THE RECENTLY
ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") issued a number of new or
revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (herein collectively referred to
as “new HKFRSs”) which are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005, except for HKFRS3
“Business Combinatinos”. The Group has not early adopted
these new HKFRSs in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2005.

HKFRS3 is applicable to business combinations for which the
agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005. The Group
has not entered into any business combination for which the
agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005. Therefore,
HKFRS3 did not have any impact on the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2005.

The Group has considered the other new HKFRSs but does
not expect that the issuance of these HKFRSs will have a
material effect on how the results of operations and financial
position of the Group are prepared and presented.

K

—EERF=A=+—RALEFE

—RER

RABIRETMERRARF - RZTT=F
FAZT+—BAREBERASHEESARE(Z
ZE-FEREFTMR) RASHST
M REBLEREREERAAE - R
WREE R FT ET o NA R SRRIER A
Al Gold Best Holdings Ltd.([Gold
Best]) * B— N KB E LB S A

ME)AA e

ARBR—FAREZERAR KX EW
BRAAMIEXEBHNUBHRRMZE
32 °

RILEMHNET RN 2 BERE

—TTFE - BEQMAGEMZE
A RBERT 2 BB G AR REFEY
B EER (BRI EEMBEHREE
A1) - BR¥ BB S £ R F 3%
[RBEHIN ZFENR-_ZFTTHF
—RA—B% &Mz et HEER
AEEYEREERBE_FTTAF=H
=t BULEFEZMBRRPEAUSE
MBEBMBREE -

BBV B REERNFEIGERAR HH
BMR—_TZRAF A B 2RZE
BEG ARBEAXERTEMEHRS=
ZTRAE A BRZRZEHAHG
& Bt EEYH RS ERF 3%
HAKBREE_ZTTREF=A=+—
AEFELEBEXRTE -

AEBEFEEMHBEENEREE
A WHEMZEREENBHREEL 2
BERHRREEINEEREARSBENR
ZHAFEEEARE -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The principal
accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate.

All significant inter-company transactions and balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any identified impairment loss.

Revenue recognition
Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

Steam income is recognised in accordance with the
agreement.

EXEFEE
MBRRDBELKRAE  REEZEE
BRANEARAGH - RANTE
SRR WAT ¢

mERE
RAMBRREIAARLENE AR
BESF-A=1t—HLLHNHKHRE -

FRRBREENMBRANEERK
BEMBAE  FFARSBRRRANGTE
HELEMBHIE  BEOEER -

PIEEBARRBENEAR S REHRE
RiZalRARYH -

REBLRNKRE
RBABNKEEARANEERE
KA - WKABAERIE B RIREBEA
E‘EO

PN
HEBMREYNERFTE EEERRE
o7

ARV O P YT BT Rk
SEESE S

[
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2005

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress are stated at cost less depreciation and amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress is stated at cost which includes all
construction costs and other direct costs attributable to the
construction. It is not depreciated or amortised until

completion of construction. The cost of completed

construction works is transferred to the appropriate

categories of property, plant and equipment.

Leasehold land and land use rights are amortised over the
period of the lease or rights respectively using the straight
line method.

Depreciation and amortisation is provided to write off the
cost of other property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual value, using the straight line method, at
the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 3'3%-20%
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the income statement.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

3. EXREFEE#)

M- BERRKE
BREZTEI - WE - BFE REREBLRK
RRPTE BHEHARRAREBEA
E\EO

ERETRIEKAIIE  EREfTEN
PRAERERANIAREMERKA - it
BHRAETRETKAI TSR E N #
o BERITRERANEREYE - B
REREEOERER -

HELHWE T EREESENEEN
SRR REAREEE -

Hp¥x - BE R&EEE MG A A
FHAREGFHEER  REREFE
FrEREHER - AMBEKE - fHMmA

BERMT

EF 5%

B BERBERRZE 20%
HEMHEEE 5%

AE 20%

R 55 Fe 25 3% —20%

AT ESEREEMELNRE  BE
ENHEEMSRAEKEEZHNE
B ONBEERTHER -
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. BEAXSFHEXE#)
Impairment AR
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying AEBERSEERIRITEENERER
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any B BTt HBEEAREBETRR -
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment & EETEEM A W E B EAREE -
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be Az & ERREE /AR ZE A KB EE -
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the WA KR EEIEER AR -

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the WEBBNREBEERED  5@EE
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised ENRAESAAZ G INEE - A
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased AT ENREENGEARTFEET
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that ERERREBERREE - BE AR
would have been determined had no impairment loss been BEEBEIRERSEA -

recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Loan arrangement fees BEFES

Loan arrangement fees are amortised to the income BEFEENRERZFHRAUERER
statement over the term of the loan on a straight line basis We kP #sE - DR —EREE 2R
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge. L& o

Inventories 7E8

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FERKAKAZERFEUAREER
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average ) AR o EARBAINEEFEHEFE -
method.

Taxation H1E

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and 10 T8 5 3R B R A 1B % O RE A TE A 4B
deferred tax. I

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the WA BB IRANFERRT AR
year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the B o ERT B AR &R PP RAET T
income statement because it excludes items of income or [ ARERMBNNBIEEEMEE
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it JERTBIS AT B WA RFAZIEER - I
further excludes income statement items that are never BT BEBmRAERRE RN A IE
taxable or deductible. g e
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For the year ended 31 March 2005

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

EXSFHEE (#)

BiE (&)

EXERBNMBEHREANEERBERE
BEFFERRNANMRBEERHREN
ERMEGMNHAIREBRIER - XRAE
EREXRABEIAR BERAEABE—
BRAPTBERARE R EZRE T AER - M
BRI E B R A 8L & 3R AT A A K
S5 AT A0 I 22 R A B SR A &L R B T LA
BR - METRERDANARER (F
BRHERRIN — BT ERRTA
MXEABNNRSZNEMEERARE
PRl - AIEEERABATHER -

ELEHIA B BERRE QR NIREME
EERNE R EZ5 T AR © BRIER
SE R EBIERERNED RN AR
RARNAIRER B ERER -

EEFBREERAERSEAEEBE
% T LAMREIR - EEXERHE
RTAF A HEA B KD ELEHIBAEE
ERBLE -

BELERARBAREEABHNEREE
MAREAERNRERAE - BEERIAR
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Profits and losses arising on exchange
are dealt with in the income statement.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations outside Hong Kong are translated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as
equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.
Such translation differences are recognised as income or as
expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
income statements on a straight line basis over the period of
the respective leases.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) are charged as
an expense as they fall due.

EXSHEE (#)

SN

SNERZ BBRANIARZ S HAER AR © A
ZEINEFENEREEENABERE
BREERMNEXSMGE EXAE
ABmER e

HRARER  AREBRBUINERBTDH
BENABRAERNERBE - I
HEZHARFEEXRBRE - IELN
ERZRE(IB) AR BB - 85
EARENELFHE - DIUERXZHER
HEBBEBHOHEBER S BANKH
% o
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For the year ended 31 March 2005

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out
annually. Actuarial gains and losses which exceed 10% of
the greater of the present value of the defined benefit
obligations and the fair value of plan assets are amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the
participating employees. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent that the benefits are already
vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight line basis
over the average period until the amended benefits become
vested.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the
fair value of the plan assets as adjusted for unrecognised
actuarial gains and losses, and as reduced by the present
value of the defined benefit obligation. Any asset resulting
from this calculation is limited to unrecognised actuarial
losses and past service cost plus the present value of
available refunds and reductions to the plan.

BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

Turnover

Turnover represents the net amounts received and receivable
for goods sold by the Group net of value added tax during
the year.

Business segments

No business segment analysis is presented as all of the
Group’s turnover and contribution to results were derived
from the manufacture and sales of paper for both years.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (Continued) 4, EKRkiiEpE (&)

Geographical segments b 35 53 &P

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales THRERMERTSEASAEEHEEND
by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the - ERTEREeE MR
goods:

Sales revenue by

geographical market Contribution to profit
& ith B 5 from operations
BoMEERA REBRER
2005 2004 2005 2004

—EERFE —_TTNF ZZTHFE —_TTOEOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T F& T FE T F& T

People’s Republic of REARARME -

China other than BB BRI

Hong Kong (the “PRC") (TR ) 1,351,053 712,776 223,159 127,685
Export sales delivered ey AENEE:)

in the PRC (Note) HAEE () 1,364,422 988,279 225,366 177,039
Others HAtb 55,948 — (14,345) —

2,771,423 1,701,055 434,180 304,724

Interest Income B U A 668 412
Profit from operations | 434,848 305,136
Interest on bank AR AFRNBEE

borrowings wholly BERTEE

repayable within B A2

five years (11,412) (15,008)
Profit before taxation & %% A & 7 423,436 290,128
Taxation I8 (5,693) (5,250)
Profit for the year FERF 417,743 284,878
Note: These are sales to PRC customers who ultimately export the goods Mz : HEEREASEKEEREOBEINNG

outside the PRC. FERE -
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (Continued)

Geographical segments (Continued)

Since the goods sold to various geographical markets were

produced from the same production facilities, an analysis of

the carrying amount of segment assets, additions to

property, plant and equipment and depreciation and

amortisation, analysed by the geographical area in which the

assets are located are set out below:

Carrying amount of
segment assets

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

4. EREHES I (£)

H i o EB ()

HRAZ R TS EHENEmIER
A — S ERE  REEMELRDTH
DEEEREE  Wx - BEAREN
NE ARITERBHNOT

Additions to property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation and
amortisation

PEEEREME NE BERRZENRE HEREH
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
“ZERF -“TTNF —ZEBIF -TING -—BTRE —TITNF
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TER FHET TER THAT
PRC other than H B
Hong Kong (FBEEE) 4,020,751 3,060,458 648,548 645,524 83,579 54,748
Hong Kong BB 2,811 348,665 306 — 52 224
United States X
of America 80,971 — 349 — 10 —
4,104,533 3,409,123 649,203 645,524 83,641 54,972
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PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 5. &KR&EREF
2005 2004
—EERFE —_TTWMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F& T
Profit from operations has been KERFEMBRTIFIE

arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 6) EF=ME (KisEe) 3,540 2,899
Other staff costs Hfh 8 TpA 100,677 44,005
Retirement benefits scheme R ONAE F 5T 8 7 51

contributions 2,585 1,100
Total staff costs B I A58 106,802 48,004

Amortisation of loan arrangement fees & & F & & ¥ ¢4

(included in administrative expenses) (BEt ATTERF ) 1,668 278
Auditors’ remuneration % EX B B <& 1,061 665
Depreciation and amortisation T & N B 5 83,641 54,972
Loss on disposal of property, HEWME BMERIEBEE

plant and equipment K548 6,816 37
Operating lease rentals in respect THREFHLEHERS

of land and buildings 4,141 974
and after crediting: W ATFIER :

Interest income ) B WA 668 412
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6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 6. EEREEMNE
2005 2004
—EERFE —_TTWF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHTT
Directors’ fees: EEW2
Executive WITES = =
Non-executive FHITES = =
Independent non-executive BUIERITES 244 187
Other emoluments of executive directors: #1717 2= % # £ b 7B :
— salaries and other benefits — He REMBF 3,276 2,690
— retirement benefits scheme — PRI 5T &I 5%
contributions 20 22
Total directors’ emoluments EEWe BT 3,540 2,899
The directors’ emoluments were within the following bands: EE=M e F AR
Number of directors
EEAH
2005 2004
—EEHRFE —_TTWF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = — 1,000,000/ 7T 6 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T — 2,000,000/% 7T 1 —
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FA - AEETERALE&ZSHTAL
the five highest paid individuals (including directors and (BREEZERER) NS - FREE
employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the BEMARER - skEAINAZRE BR
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the R EEEN SRR E - FN - WRE(ME
directors has waived any emoluments during the year. ERELMENE o
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DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS 6.

(Continued)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2004: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2004: three)
individuals were as follows:

EEREEME (&)

ERSERLEREHEALT  EPmA
“TTNE MR RARAES A
MEHBER EXRE - #HT=%(=
ZTNF  ZB) RS FATHMHSF
BT -

2005 2004
—EERFE —TTMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHTT
Employees B8

— salaries and other benefits — Fre kEAMEF 2,136 2,049
— bonus — JE4L 38 —

— retirement benefits scheme — BRIRE A F B4 5
contributions 36 36
2,210 2,085

ta=%(CZTTMF : =R)EBEXW
MEENEAAMNSEES IR

The aggregate emoluments of each of the above three
(2004: three) employees were under HK$1,000,000 for both

years. 1,000,000/ 7T, °
TAXATION 7. BIE
2005 2004
—EZHE _—TITOEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER FH T
The charge comprises: BB HEE
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax FESNE D EMEH 14,553 5,250
Deferred taxation iR IE Fi 18 (8,860) —
5,693 5,250
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TAXATION (Continued)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated. Taxation is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions

as set out below.

The subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax for the two years starting
from its first profit-making year, followed by a 50% relief for
the three years thereafter. During the year, the PRC Foreign
Enterprise Income Tax rate for a subsidiary situated in
Dongguan, the PRC was agreed by the PRC tax authority to
reduce from 24% to 15%.

The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading
activities in Labaun, Malaysia, in a currency other than the
Malaysian currency with other group companies which are
non-residents of Malaysia. The tax rate for offshore trading
companies in Labaun is charged at a fixed annual rate of
Malaysian RM20,000.

Under 58/99/M, a
incorporated under that Law (called ""58/99/M Company’’) is

Decree-Law no. Macau company
exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau income
tax) as long as the 58/99/M Company does not sell its

products to a Macau resident company.
In the opinion of the directors, the Group is not subject to
taxation in any other jurisdictions in which the Group

operates.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 24.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

LA (4)

5 81 2 U T AR 48 5 PR 4 0 2B B
MBI - BUREERE B E 2 R
BiEHEMT -

i 7 B A B B X ) (B N R
e %f%ﬁlﬂfﬂlﬁl\ﬁ‘ﬁm%ﬁﬁ SHMF - H
B=F+% - FA  PARKEBHEREH
ARE—RURREZHEBARNSE
SNELEMBERREAESZ-THR
/)ﬁ:l:EJJZ"'—ﬁ"

BARAEAIME QR RS RAEN T
7 NS RAGREUINEE -
NEMIEFTRALARETHEE S X
%o NMEHBEE SR RTFHMN
20,0005 & #) FE RE AR ©

/\7K

RIEF58/99/M5RES » IRIBEZ ES
LA S #R P A &) (78 A& [58/99/MA
ﬁj)tﬂﬂ%%iﬁf'ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁowﬁﬁﬁ@
%) + BIIE 2 58/99/MA B AR P
Z’Kiﬂﬁjﬁﬁgﬁuu °

EZRR AEEEAHE LT
EMEMEEAERINHRAMRIHEA -

AR IREE MR H 824
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7. TAXATION (Continued) 7. BiE (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit REENHEX HERBERRNETN
before taxation per the income statement as follows: HERWT
2005 2004
—EERFE —TTMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Profit before taxation R % B & ) 423,436 290,128

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 15% BEAMEIS% (ZEZPF

(2004:24%) 24%) st BB IR 63,515 69,631
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AN BB E
for tax purpose 1,656 16,787
Tax effect of income not taxable WA RANTR G2
for tax purpose (3,571) (33,369)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTBBEENR B2 1,316 —
Utilisation of tax losses previously A LA AR ERNREEE
not recognised — (101)
Effect of tax exemption for PRC AT A R RA R AT ) R
subsidiaries (29,124) (9,647)
Effect of tax exemption granted to BFT & S R g WE NE
Macau and Malaysia subsidiaries BHREFTHNTE (28,741) (38,015)
Effect of different tax rates of £ R Bl 0A 7 [ 2 8 1 B B
subsidiaries operating in other RAIER TR ERZE
jurisdictions 672 (36)
Others EH A, (30) =
Tax charge for the year FRBEZHRERB =X 5,693 5,250
8. DIVIDEND 8. RE
2005 2004

—EERFE —_TTNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T T T

2004 Final dividend paid of HK$0.10 T T Y F Ik 2 R AR B
per share (2003: Nil) FRONOBITL(ZET=F : ) 96,155 —
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8. DIVIDEND (Continued) 8. RE (&)
A final dividend of HK$0.18 (2004: HK$0.10) per share has EETgER RN RPKREFRK0.18 H
been proposed by the board of directors of the Company T (ZZTEMF : 0.10%7T) - HEAFR
and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the RERERFRBFAG EELIERT
forthcoming annual general meeting. A{EE -
9. EARNINGS PER SHARE 9. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share FRMGIREAR R ERF TH AT 5 £
for the year is based on the following data: BREEFE :
2005 2004
—EETRE —ZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHTT
Earnings: AR -

Net profit for the year and earnings for AT E SR ER K #E

the purpose of basic and diluted B FE AT R AT
earnings per share 417,743 284,878
Number of shares: B :

Weighted average number of ordinary AU EERERZN W

shares for the purpose of basic L 58 AR h0HE ST 15 2L

earnings per share 959,554,581 699,728,535
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary 7R 7R Ao Ak v B BB AR ME PR A

shares in respect of over-allotment MEBRETEETE

option and share options 3,831,667 3,616,014

Weighted average number of ordinary AU E S RETR T
shares for the purpose of diluted 38 AR h0RE 39 &L
earnings per share 963,386,248 703,344,549
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

10. % BERRE

Furniture

fixtures &  Leasehold

equipment improve-
Land use Construction BH ments Motor Plant &
rights  Buildings in progress EE#E HEWE vehicles  machinery Total
T ERE g HEIR k#&fE #1 RE BERME @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET FTET FHET TET FTET TET TET
THE GROUP AEE
CosT BA
At 1 April 2004 —EEmENA—A 83,004 377,378 96,442 9,933 42,086 9436 1,562,131 2,180,410
Additions RE 9,163 66,375 59,922 9,198 42,164 3,907 458,474 649,203
Transfers Hik — 36,532 (75,314) 432 2,590 — 35,760 —
Disposals k- — (6,061) = (17) — — (3,141) (9,219)
At31March 2005 Z=ZBHEE=B=+—-H 92,167 474,224 81,050 19,546 86,840 13,343 2,053,224 2,820,394
DEPRECIATION AND  HTEK # 8
AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2004 —EEmENA—A 3,795 38,585 = 3,131 633 4,079 104,625 154,848
Provided for the year £ FfEf& 1,855 18,811 = 2,239 3,180 1,868 55,688 83,641
Eliminated on disposals it} & & £ 8 — (1,307) - (2) — - (1,079) (2,388)
At 31 March 2005 —BEHEE=F=+—§ 5,650 56,089 — 5,368 3,813 5,947 159,234 236,101
NET BOOK VALUES  ERFEFE
At31March 2005 Z=ZBBHEE=BA=+—-H 86517 418,135 81,050 14,178 83,027 739 1,893,990 2,584,293
At31March 2004 —ZEEE=/A=+—H 79,209 338,793 96,442 6,802 41,453 5357 1,457,506 2,025,562
All the Group’s buildings, including construction in progress, AEERMFEEF (BRERIRE) B
are situated on land in the PRC which are held by the Group R - WAHASERER L

under medium term land use right.

ERERA -
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 10. ¥ - BERRE (&)
The Group has acquired land use right in the PRC and has SEFAPHIMEARELDER
erected buildings thereon. While the Group has paid FEARAESEE 2SI MEMZNRE -
substantially the full consideration of the purchase EAEABFEEDNRE TRE XL i
consideration, the relevant government authorities have not CRAEEAEEE RZZETRF=A
granted formal title to certain of these land use rights to the =+—B KREVRRTEXAEAEZ
Group. As at 31 March 2005, the net book value of the land T ERAEZREFENRI6.58EH
use rights for which the Group had not been granted formal T(ZEZTNF 7388w cEF
title amounted to approximately HK$16.5 million (2004: AR L i i IE A R
HK$7.3 million). In the opinion of the directors, the absence TZEEEEHAEMEEE - EX54E
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the BEETAKREEER TZE T HER
value of the relevant properties to the Group. The directors EEAERRE -
also believe that formal title to these land use rights will be
granted to the Group in due course.

11. DEPOSITS PAID ON ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT  11. BBV X - BERREMFET £

AND EQUIPMENT

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment for new
production facilities. The related capital commitments are
included in note 26.

PRI & RASE R T # A ERIE B
ENYE  BERRENRE - BN
BAEEHNHE26 -
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12. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12. RKIB AT MRS

THE COMPANY
¥ NN
2005 2004
—EERE —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost (Note) JEEWRRAD - A (FF ) 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries i ENGIE 2,255,199 1,530,765

2,893,176 2,168,742

Less: Amounts due from subsidiaries o FE YRR A R RIE
— due within one year — —FAEH (189,871) —
2,703,305 2,168,742
Note: The cost of the unlisted shares is based on the book value of the MisE: EEMRMOKADIZEEEHEA B
underlying net assets of the subsidiaries attributable to the Group AEBEEREMBARMNEEEERE
on the date of corporate reorganisation in September 2003. FEFTH -
In the opinion of the directors, the amounts due from EERR BRMEARRIBAER
subsidiaries are unsecured and non-interest bearing. Except B8 o BT 189,871,000/ LN (=
for an amount of HK$189,871,000 (2004: nil), the amounts TEMEF : &) ERHEBARRET
due from subsidiaries are unlikely to be repaid within one AR EE BB —FREE - HER
year from the balance sheet date and are therefore shown in BEBERIIERBIER -

the balance sheet as non-current.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March RZBEZRF=ZA=+—H ' ~E£EHN
2005 are set out in note 32. FEMNBARFBHNMEI2 -
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13. INVENTORIES 13. B8
THE GROUP
rEH
2005 2004
—EETRE —ZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
At cost: DN
Raw materials 7%} 458,376 438,062
Finished goods B mm 89,988 31,008
548,364 469,070
14. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE 14. BRERRRERE
The credit terms granted by the Group to its customers AEEGETEPONEEHR — MK HB45H
normally range from 45 to 60 days. Z60BTE o

EUWEARRBEORESTAOT

An aging analysis of the trade and bills receivable is as

follows:
THE GROUP
rEH
2005 2004
—ETRE —_ZTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FA T
Aged: ARHR :
Less than 30 days L 30H 371,272 218,565
31 — 60 days 31H — 60H 97,406 61,070
61 — 90 days 61H — 90H 25,796 4,194
Over 90 days 90H A 10,175 3,889

504,649 287,718
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15. NOTES RECEIVABLE 15. BEWERE
In January 2005, the Group purchased from a group of RZZZRF— A SELU3SEESE
investors term loans with face value of US$33,118,778 due TT(HBER27.N2BEET) —BEE
by Stockton Pacific Enterprises, Inc (“Stockton”) at a T 88 A Stockton Pacific Enterprises,
consideration of US$3,515,742, equivalent to approximately Inc([Stockton]) E{E33. 1B EXLZE
HK$27,423,000. Stockton operated a totally chlorine free HRfEE o Stockton 733 jn ) 5% EE g8
kraft pulp mill in Samoa, California, U.S.A. The collateral KeE—MEEERBEEARKD 24 RAE
securing these term loans is Stockton’s real estate, buildings, o BEHIfEE JILA Stockton Z 5 i
personal property and most of its other assets. E LEVEREMEEFEERD -
Shortly before the Group’s purchase of the loans, Stockton REEBABE Z AR © Stockton &
had shut down the mill and laid off virtually all of its 15 TR AR B AR T B 8 B ° Stockton
employees. Within days of the Group’s purchase of the ZHBEEZERBENTREEBARBER
loans, all of the officers and directors of Stockton resigned. HENER RZZETEAF—A=+—
On 21 January 2005, the Group took possession of the mill B £EEE IMUREEET 2K H
in order to protect the collateral for the loans. mn °
The Group’s intent has been, and still is, to foreclose on the SEMNEREEE BENA  BUEE
loans and offer the collateral for sale at public auctions. It is EMERENSERRARRE - &8
also the Group’s intent to bid in the carrying value of the MTEEREFUAEBEERRIE@MERK
loan notes as necessary to purchase most of the assets AN AKREMEE - 85— Stockton
offered for sale at the auctions. The first auction for ZhEBMERESER_ETHF=H
Stockton’s personal property occurred in March 2005 and BT SENUNBHBEERREESE
the Group bid in a portion of the loan notes to purchase 100,000 7T (%9780,000/8 70) 2 & T
certain account receivables of US$100,000, equivalent to JEWGRIE - FHIE - BFREEHREZ
approximately HK$780,000. The auction for the real estate, HESHN T RAFLART &F
buildings, machinery and fixtures will occur in July 2005. The KBUBERERRAB A Stockton
Group will again bid in the loan notes to purchase the BRTHEE - BN BT HEEM
balance of Stockton’s assets. It is unlikely that there will be FREaNMEEEEATIREE  SE
any bids in excess of the remaining carrying value of the BRAHEEFTZIRIER °

loans, and the Group expects to be the purchaser of the mill
at that auction.

In essence, the Group is acquiring the Stockton mill through XBEENRE  SENEBABEAZEEME
an asset purchase and will acquire no obligation to pay any A Stockton BJ TR - A itk I £ 5 F =
of Stockton’s liabilities. EEZ (L] Stockton Z B o

In the opinion of the directors, the assets purchased and to BEERR REEgBEACZEERKS
be purchased in the auctions worth at least the carrying BAZEBEEHEBETZERERZEEZ
amount of the notes receivable. IREE -



B X &E® BR 2 A

& g 2004/05

Notes to the Financial Statements B %5 i R B 5
For the year ended 31 March 2005 HE-_TTAF=A=1+—BILEE
16. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 16. BEWWEBELQARNRE
The amount represents trading balance due from Lee & Man EBFERE lLee & Man Industrial
Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing Limited ([ X E %)
Manufacturing”) which is an associate (as defined in the ME 5 &k o X E % =2 Fortune Star
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Tradings Ltd. ([Fortune Star]) #9822
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of Fortune Star Tradings Ltd. AT (ERRBRAMESFLETMHRA (ML
(“Fortune Star”). Fortune Star and the Company are under M BIl)) ° Fortune Star AR Al
the control of the same discretionary trust, the discretionary XE—2EEEE - ZE2EETENE
beneficiaries of which include Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, X ABRETERLE  FTELE
Mr Lee Man Chun, Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun, all of REMGRAEE BIRARBESE) - BH
them are directors of the Company. The amount for both SRIE R i E 4 E A BR e 15 D R 308 o
years is aged less than 30 days.
17. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE 17. ERERIRAREE
An aging analysis of the trade and bills payable is as follows: ERERREBROERERS AT :
THE GROUP
rEH
2005 2004
—EERE —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T FA T
Aged: ARER -
Less than 30 days LR 30H 83,800 106,774
31 — 60 days 31H — 60H 5,423 6,098
61 — 90 days 61H — 90H 3,982 461
Over 90 days 90H M 4,557 7,241
97,762 120,574
18. LAND COSTS PAYABLE 18. FEAT L+ R A

The balance represented the amount payable for the
acquisition of land which was fully repaid during the year.

Ik S BRI RE 30 Y FE N FUE - X ARIR
ERAEEREMNE -
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19. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 19. EEHFRITEE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEHE PN
2005 2004 2005 2004

—EERFE —_TTNF ZETHFE —_TTWEOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT FER FAT
Bank loans RITE R 599,685 721,210 312,900 400,000
Bank import loans RTEOER 172,556 169,124 — —
Bank overdraft SRITBEX — 2,336 — —
772,241 892,670 312,900 400,000
Loan arrangement fees: BEFEE:
At 1 April MmA—H 4,722 — 4,722 —
Incurred during the year FERNESE — 5,000 — 5,000
Amortised during the year 4 A%k §5 (1,668) (278) (1,668) (278)
At 31 March =RA=+—H 3,054 4,722 3,054 4,722
Carrying value at =A=+—HH®
31 March BREE 769,187 887,948 309,846 395,278
The bank borrowings are  R17 & & /)& XA
repayable as follows: m
Within one year or —FANHE
on demand EXREE 618,474 578,196 159,133 85,526
More than one year, —FREMENRN
but not exceeding
two years 150,713 159,226 150,713 159,226
More than two years, MERERLFRN
but not exceeding
five years — 150,526 — 150,526

769,187 887,948 309,846 395,278
Less: Amount due within B ABRS A RE

one year shown under BEN—FA
current liabilities E| EA R IE (618,474) (578,196) (159,133) (85,526)
Amount due after one year — 412 % Hiz 8 150,713 309,752 150,713 309,752
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20. AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 20 ENBRARERATRE
The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and was EEFEAERMEREE MAERAR
used to settle part of the subscription amount as mentioned ST D RE IR (FF R FE21()) °

in note 21(a).

21. SHARE CAPITAL 21. B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZERHE &8
HK$'000
AT
Authorised: ATE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREMECIE TH E AR
On date of incorporation sl A 32 B B 3,800,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital A TE IR 7N 38 0 1,996,200,000 199,620
At 31 March 2004 and 31 March 2005 Z=—ZZWHF=A=+—HEK
—EERF=ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZERHE k-l
HK$'000
FA T
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREBRE :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREMECI0E TH E AR
Issue of share to subscriber BITRMD TRES 1 —
Issue of shares on acquisition A Ug B B B A B B AT RR D
of subsidiaries 29,999,999 3,000
Issue of shares by capitalisation of FBRERMD BERETT
share premium B AREITIRMD 532,500,000 53,250
Issue of share under global offering BIEZIREEEITRGD 187,500,000 18,750
Exercise of over-allotment option 715 8 KA i AR 4 28,124,000 2,812
Exercise of share options 17 {30 B iR 7 62,406,000 6,241
At 31 March 2004 —ETZME=A=+—H 840,530,000 84,053
Issue of new shares BATH R 120,000,000 12,000
Exercise of share options 17 6 e P 2,854,000 285
At 31 March 2005 —ETZRE=RA=+—H 963,384,000 96,338
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21.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Details of the changes in the Company's share capital for the

year ended 31 March 2005 are as follows:

(a)

On 26 March 2004, arrangements were made for a
private placement to independent private investors of
53,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
held by Gold Best at a price of HK$6.745 per share
representing a discount of approximately 5% to the
closing market price of the Company’s shares on 25
March 2004.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement of the same date,
Gold Best subscribed for 120,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.10 each in the Company at a price of HK$6.745
per share. The proceeds were used to provide
additional working capital for the Group. These new
shares rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary

shares in all respects.

The placing and subscription was completed in April
2004.

During the year, 2,854,000 share options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised at a
subscription price of HK$4.17 per share, resulting in
the issue of 2,854,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each in the Company.

All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu
with the then existing shares in all respects.

21.

B (#)
ARARARBE-SERF=A=+
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TME=ZA-+HBARFKRN
W (EHT:E5% °

RIEREFAMD A E © Gold Best
15 1% 3 (% 6.7457%% 7T R B A A A
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HEINEEES - TIRNDEFME
FTHHEAERNRERNEZERE
M e
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22. RESERVES

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

22. t#fE

Accumulated

Share Contributed

profit (loss)

premium surplus ZFBEF Total
4% E N (E58) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHTT FHTT FHTT
THE COMPANY ¥ NN
Premium arising on issue TP EEH
of shares w8 1,131,582 — — 1,131,582
Capitalisation of share R 1 % (B 5
premium & (53,250) — — (53,250)
Expenses incurred in BTG E AW
connection with the =
issue of shares (35,894) — — (35,894)
Reserve arising on WK B AR EE
acquisition of B i 1
subsidiaries — 634,977 — 634,977
Loss for the period R EE — — (5,056) (5,056)
At 31 March 2004 —TTNE
=A=+—8H 1,042,438 634,977 (5,056) 1,672,359
Premium arising on issue TR D E £ K
of shares ik 809,016 — — 809,016
Expenses incurred in BT (D EE A B
connection with the ZH
issue of shares (4,826) — — (4,826)
Profit for the year FANRF — — 106,486 106,486
Dividend paid K B — — (96,155) (96,155)
At 31 March 2005 —E2LF
=HA=+—H 1,846,628 634,977 5,275 2,486,880

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to the

difference between the aggregate net assets

corporate reorganisation in September 2003 and the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

RABOBABBRIEARRRER=-F
Z=FNRAKESHKEREOHRER
AMEEFEAREARNARKEER
MBETHARBRBRONWEENER °



Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
Annual Report 2004/05

22.

23.

RESERVES (Continued)

At 31 March 2005, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated profit (loss) which in
aggregate amounted to approximately HK$2,487 million
(2004: HK$1,672 million). Under the Companies Law (2001
Second Revision) of the Cayman lIslands, the share premium
of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the payment of distributions or
dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends shall be
payable out of the profits or other reserves, including the
share premium account, of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11
schemes, namely Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Scheme”), were
approved and adopted.

September 2003, two share option

The Scheme and the Pre-IPO Scheme were established for
the purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
persons. The Scheme and Pre-IPO Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years and three years, respectively
from adoption of the schemes and will expire on 10
September 2012 and 10 September 2006, respectively.

22.

23.

s (&)

RAE AR T IRER A FESERD
BE - BABBRKRFTEE  RZTZT
FF=A=+—HMBELNR2487E
BT (ZZTZIE 16728 T) o B
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EETIR) - EFERARABER AR
MBIMBETET - AR AR IR 5= E 7] A
ERRRDRRZTRERE - EER
BEX DRI E AR - RABNARE
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BEAQANAFME - REBAAR
AIMAF R EMEERN  2EROE
B -

BRESE
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23.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(M)

Share Option Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) may at their discretion
grant options to (i) any director (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Group
or a Company in which the Group holds an equity
interest or a subsidiary of such company (”Affiliate”);
or (i)
contractors,

any advisors, consultants, distributors,

suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member
of the Group as may be determined by the Directors
from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the

Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of
the date of grant. The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at any point in time. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-
month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has been
obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Options may be exercised during such period (including
the minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised) as may be
determined by the Directors (which shall be less than
ten years from the date of issue of the relevant option).

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

23. BRERE (&)

(i)

BT S

REZTE  ArAEFE([E
EZ2) A THRBERERLEKR
BTOAEENERNES (BFEH
TEE  FATESTRBILIEHR
TEE) REER - AEERFHBE
FPNCIEE NIl INCIER::
BARA]) ¢ SR EB{EMKE
RAEIWEMER  BEXREM - 2
HE - AEm - HER - KE
ABP EBRBH HEAR
MIRFHER - UREARQ AR
o (Thfnl) -

SEMALTHBAERKHB B
“+HNBEARERERE - RIEE
P &t 81 1% th & B B P8 S 9
BRHEE  EEARETSSER
RRAREETHRA10% ° B IER
B LR R REMFARF K
Rt/ - BAMER AL EER
1218 A B4R A 2 5% 1 BB AR P S
EOBEMH&ES#HE @ TREBEAR
it 12 AE&E® —BARA]
BERTROMI%

ERARREZSRENHHE (2
EBBETERN BARANRE
HIRR (nA)) T B A (% B3]
mHAMBREZTAHES TR
BE+F) -
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23.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

0

(i)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options may be granted without initial payment except
the payment of HK$1 as consideration for grant of
option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
guotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of the grant; and (iii) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant.

No option was granted by the Company under the
Scheme since its adoption.

Pre-IPO Scheme

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Scheme, approved
and amended by written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company dated 11 September
2003, are similar to the terms of the Scheme except for
the followings:

(@)  The subscription price per share shall be the price
per public offer share on the initial public offering
in September 2003 (“Offer price”); and

(b) Save for the options which have been granted
(with details set out below), no further options
will be offered or granted, as the right to do so
will end upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

23. BIRERE (&)

0

(if)

BRESE ()

BTAXMIBTERBRERE
R REN  BRENEHE
TEH BN FEBERTHELE - 17
EBEBRERTIRSE - kK

[EIN:]

DB R B B R

ERRBRMATHETE: &
(iii)B% 17 £ B 1% ) B B AT I8 2
XREBMIAERRERMATH
FHWRTE -

BERE I ERAAK - AR
7] 3 8 AR 15 B AR R At 81 IR B AR
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BNt E SN BIRAFERATE
FNER(BEARFARRR _TF
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23.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(i)

Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued)

On 11 September 2003, the Company granted share
options under the Pre-IPO Scheme to the Directors and
certain employees of the Group, which entitles them to
subscribe for a total of 75,000,000 shares at HK$4.17
per share.

Save and except to Gold Best, all other holders to
whom options have been granted under the Pre-IPO
Scheme will be entitled to exercise (i) up to 50% of the
options granted to him/her at any time after the expiry
of 6 months till the first anniversary of the listing date,
(i) up to 75% of the options granted to him/her of any
time until the second anniversary of the listing date,
(iii) up to 100% of the options granted to him/her at
any time until the third anniversary of the listing date.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

23. BRERE (&)

(i)

BRABRERAGE (&)

RZBZE=FhLA+—HB AAQ
AR R B X A B & AR A AT &I
BRETASEESRETE
B FREFAURSRANTETH
fBE1% - & £ 75,000,0000% i

,f/'\ ®

BT Gold Best 4 * RIBEEH XA
FERATEERERENNE
H R RA)N E™ B ®RAEA
RELEMBA—BFATERZE
ERERENS0% (R LA
MBFZATERZEERER
BHT75% ¢ (I ETBE=AFZ
ATERZEERERERD
100% °
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23. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 23. BRESTE (&)
(i) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued) (i) BXAHAERAE (&)
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEEEAQNFRBREERARAE
options under the Pre-IPO Scheme held by employees RATGFEI R B BHIES (BIEE
(including directors) and movement in such holdings B)EANBREFSNEEER
during the year: EREBANRBAANNESFS :

Outstanding at
31.3.2004 and

1.4.2004
Granted at “EEZME Outstanding
11.9.2003 Exercised =A=+—-HEK at 31.3.2005
“BE=F during —EENE Exercised “EERE
Category Date of grant Exercise price hA+-H the period BA—H  during the year =A=t+-H
B3 REAH i@ B BRfTR o R ATHE BRTR i R AT
HKS
BT
Shareholders 11 September 2003 4.17 61,000,000 (61,000,000) — — —
i “EZ=fAA+—H
(note i) (FH 1)
Directors 11 September 2003 417 5,800,000 — 5,800,000 (1,014,000) 4,786,000
Ex —ZZ=FAAT—H
(note i) (Pff i)
Senior management 11 September 2003 417 2,500,000 (400,000) 2,100,000 (754,000) 1,346,000
BREEAE “ZZ=FAAT—AH
(note i) (Fff 5Eii)
Employees 11 September 2003 4.17 3,400,000 (606,000) 2,794,000 (86,000) 2,708,000
E& “EZ=FNAT—H
(note i) (Fff 5£ii)
Others 11 September 2003 4.17 2,300,000 (400,000) 1,900,000 (1,000,000) 900,000
it —ZZ=FAAT—H
(note i) (Pff i)
75,000,000 (62,406,000) 12,594,000 (2,854,000) 9,740,000
Notes: B E -
() The vesting period is from 26 September 2003 to 25 (i) BETEHE_TT=F A=+
September 2006. ANRAEZEERFNAA=+AB -
(i) The vesting period is from 26 March 2004 to 25 September (i) EETEHR-_ZFTONF=A=
2006. TREEZZETRFEAAZTE
=
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23.

24.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(i)

Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the Company’s share at the date of
issue for the exercise of share option during the year
ranging from HK$6.32 to HK$7.44.

Total consideration received during the year from
shareholders, directors and employees for exercise of
the options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme in 2003
is HK$11,901,000.

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the Company’s or the Group’s balance
sheet until such time as the options are exercised, and
no charge is recognised in the income statement in
respect of the value of options granted in the year.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting
share issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the
Company in the share premium account. Options
which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date

are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The balance represents deferred tax asset resulted from tax

losses of a subsidiary in the United States of America

recognised during the year. The tax losses may be carried

forward for five years and will expire in 2010.

No provision for deferred taxation for other subsidiaries has

been recognised in the financial statements as the amount

involved is insignificant.

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

23. BRERE (&)

(i)

24.

BRABMERAE (&)

FR - BRETEBAEMA 2K
RAlgh A FEERTKR6.32E
TLETA4BTT °

BRE_ZTZE=FHRAMERA
FEITIERTRRE EEKRE
TeeEBEREEZMNZKAR
11,901,000/ JT °
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EEIEARRMDEER - £&
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RERNEE

REER » NEBRETAIAEN L
REFREBHNARENNKERS
mr

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 25.
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of land and buildings, which fall

due as follows:

26.

THE GROUP
rEE
2005 2004
—EEHRE —_TITNAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHETT
Within one year —F A 5,889 425
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEFRFRN

(BRERMF) 33 203
5,922 628

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for an

average term of one year with fixed rentals.

BEELEARERETHAZEH
M BETH—F BRELTE -

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 26. EXREE
THE GROUP
rEH
2005 2004
—EZHE _—TITNOF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHERT FH T
Capital expenditure contracted for REEWE  BELREE
but not provided in the financial B AT KB RN B B 3k
statements in respect of acquisition BENERRX
of property, plant and equipment 655,919 537,419
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27. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the balance sheet date, banking facilities granted by
certain banks to the Group were secured by the assets of the
Group as follows:

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

27. EEEF
REZER - AEEEE TIRTEHOR
THERABITHASERN FIIEEER
b=

THE GROUP
rEE

2005 2004
—EEHRFE —_TTWF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Bank deposits RITER 1,055 —
Property, plant and equipment M - B REE — 28,511
1,055 28,511

28. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, part of the subscription amount payable by
the ultimate holding company has been settled by the
amount due to ultimate holding company. Further details are

set out in notes 20 and 21(a).

In addition, part of the notes receivable was utilised to
acquire account receivables amounted to US$100,000 as
mentioned in note 15.

EERH

FR - RRERAR NG5 RER
MEBE AERHEENRKIERARK
1B HBEEHARME20%21()

28.

40 B EKRERE BRM 1560
B2 MR IR WS -
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 29. RAREE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEHE VNN
2005 2004 2005 2004

—RFEE —TTMF —FREE —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Tz F#x  FAx  T#x

Bills discounted with BB i A9 BE 3R
recourse E 8 240,050 158 — —

Guarantees given to banks [ B A 5] & % /Y

in respect of banking R 17 5 A &8 i W)
facilities extended to HRAT R A AR
subsidiaries — — 2,409,056 1,387,359
30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 30. ERERGE
(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees (i) ABEBEEMHZMNEE
Defined benefit plan TR Mz &1 &
The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which N E 7 — 18R EH &5t & 89K
was open to qualified employees of companies under 8  #Z&r &l Fortune Star 42
the control of Fortune Star. In December 2000, all the MAAIMEEREESE - N
then existing members of the defined benefit plan ZTEZFE+_H - REMETE
were enrolled into a MPF Scheme and their accrued ERMAENEEAERLE 1]
benefits for the past services under the defined benefit BB E - MEFEAEN=
plan were frozen as at 30 November 2000. The defined FrEIARBERBEN REE
benefit plan was closed to new employees from MR=ZZZEZEF+—A=TH#®
December 2000 onwards. RiE e B_ETZETF+ AR -
AENZFETHERFESE
2 o
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30.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

(M)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled
to retirement benefits varying between 0 and 100% of
their salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by the
pensionable service up to 30 November 2000 on
attainment of a retirement age of 55. No other post-
retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets
and the present value of the defined benefit obligation
was carried out as at 31 March 2005 by HSBC Life
(International) Limited. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation, the related current service
cost and past service cost were measured using the

projected unit credit method.

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

30. RIKBFIGHE (&)

(i)

RABEBREEMRNTE (&)

RIE M 25 51 &) (&)
REFREMNDTE - BERFE
AR R bR EERAER
KEMNEERER _ZTTTF+
—A=THEHNHESHNTE100%T
% FUBE_ZTZTE+—A
=T HLEREERAS MRS F
B o AEEIWEREHfHEAMRKE
B e

FHEIEERAENEAEREZ
REMBEMRE  HTHEZAS
R (B ERABR_-_TZTA
FZA=1+—REHFMH - RE
M AERE  HEZRERS
AR BB 2 B9 AR 7 AR AR TS 5R A TR
EEMFSATE -

PIRAMNTIERERERWT :

2005 2004

per annum  per annum

ZE2RE —TITNOF

B8F BF

Discount rate AL IR & 5% 5%
Expected return on plan assets 5T 81 & Z= 78 B B ¥ 5% 5%
Expected rate of salary increases THEF R R 0% 0%

The actuarial valuation showed that the market value
of plan assets at 31 March 2005 was HK$1,546,000
(2004: HK$1,331,000).

BEBEGERT  RZTTH
FZA=+—H HEEEMNT
B EE 1,546,000 70 (—Z =
PO4F : 1,331,000/ 7T) °
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

()

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (i)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)
The credit recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the defined benefit plan is as

30. ERIKBRIGHE (&)

RABEBEEMRNOTE (&)

REFzar 8 (8)
RERE BRI R TR S5 2 8
RO HOT -

follows:

2005 2004
—ETRE _—TITOF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT T
Interest cost F 8RR AR 4 8
Expected return on plan assets =T 2 & B 78 5 1] 5 (70) (67)

Total, included in other operating  #&F (B 5 A EAh 48 & U A)
income (66) (59)

The actual return on plan assets for the year was
HK$69,000 (2004: HK$71,000).

The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of
the Group’s defined benefit assets is as follows:

SEEERAFENER DA
69,000/ 7T (ZZFZE MY : 71,000
BIL) °

AEENREMNGZEECIAE
ERBERNBRNOT :

2005 2004
—REEE —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRL  TER

Fair value of plan assets SFEIEEATEER 1,546 1,331

Unrecognised actuarial gains RNERER W= (80) (77)

Present value of funded obligations i F3RE (146) —
1,320 1,254
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)
(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Movements in the net assets in the year were as
follows:

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

30. RIKBFIGHE (&)

() REBEEMRNOEE ()

L2851 8 ()
AEFERERHBHOT

2005 2004

—EERE _—_ZTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FAT

At beginning of the year F 4 1,254 1,195

Amounts credited to income AT AU A B EUEE

statement 66 59

At end of the year FIR 1,320 1,254
Defined contribution plan SE B E

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
of the
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the

employees. The assets scheme are held
control of trustees. The Group contributes the lower of
HK$1,000 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs

to the MPF Scheme.

(ii) Plans for PRC employees
The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
schemes is to make the required contributions under
the schemes.

AEBRAEGEBEBRRY —
THRE S8 - ZETEIMEER
REBMEESHFE - ARE
AEEABENES - AEBIR
1,000% JT 3k B B A % K A B
5% ' M58 1R & 5T & LK ©

(i) HTBEEEMmREE
TENEARERNEESS A
BT S I O B K B R AR AR
FEHE - PEMBLRAZESR
HeMETADL  MERKREHN
FEIEF  ERREAIZA - A&
8 R K48 A 5t S A ME — R AT 3L
ERBE BIRE HR -
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31. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 31. BEXZRERR
During the year, the Group had significant transactions and FRN - AEEEFEATETHNEARZ
balances with connected persons at the balance sheet date SERBEEBNEHRAT
as follows:
THE GROUP
r5H
2005 2004
Nature of —EERF _ZTTOF
Name of party Transactions/ Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALEE balance Xe/ EHHE Pt 5F THET THET
Lee & Man Industrial Finished goods sold BEERK M (a) 84,229 79,767
Manufacturing Waste paper purchased B B8 % 4% (b) 6,986 6,275
BXEX Steam sold BEEER (c) 1,560 1,560
Balance due from JE W 3B 3T B 2 A R
Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing 612 1,444
Lee & Man Paper Licence fee paid ENFAES (d) 861 783
Products Limited
BXHmERAA
Lee & Man Management  Management fee paid B & & (e) 399 505
Company Limited
("Lee & Man
Management”)
EXEBRERAT
(BxXER])
Notes: M 5E
(@)  The prices were based on the monthly quote given by the Group (a) ERERASEGAREE  HERET
provided that the quote was not higher than the prevailing FERREZERAME -
market price at the time of such quotation.
(b)  The prices were based on the monthly quote given by Lee & Man (b) ERREXEXSARESE  HRE
Industrial Manufacturing provided that the quote was not higher TEERBRESHAME -
than the prevailing market price at the time of such quotation.
() Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing paid to the Group a monthly (0 BEXEXEHRASEHREZERMALEE
fee of HK$130,000 (which is approximately the cost of coal X A 130,000 7T (K HEERAE A
incurred to produce steam in the past) for the supply of steam by EERARARERAR) °

the Group.
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31. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) Lee & Man Paper Products Limited is an associate (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of Fortune Star. The licence fees were charged
in accordance with the relevant licence agreements.

(e) Lee & Man Management is a subsidiary of Lee and Man Holding
Limited (“Lee & Man Holding”). Lee & Man Holding is beneficially
owned by Fortune Star which is an associate (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of Trustcorp, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. The management fee was charged at a fixed pre-
agreed rate per month for the use of the administrative and
secretarial services provided by Lee & Man Management and the
right to use its premises as registered office.

In addition, the Company had issued shares to shareholders
of the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement,
details of which are set out in note 21.

Details of the balance with ultimate holding company are set
out in note 20.

HEZ

31.

TERF=AS+—ALFE

BEXZ K& (#)

MRt : (&)

(d) EXAKMERADARZ Fortune Star &) H
BEAT(EEREMHER]) - ST EER
BT AR ARG E R -

(e) EXNEMER Llee and Man Holding
Limited (B X EE ) M B AR - BX
S£EMH Fortune Star EEHWEHE - M
Fortune Star RARGMEERRE
Trustcorp KB AT (EER LW
Al - &3 A BIZE K E A EEUE
ERFERENEEMBEHRNTHREME
RS - ARBEREERAEMESBMERT
=R ER -

AN - ARB TR BEEEAETRND
FTARABAKRR - BERAFBHNHME
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32.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which
were wholly-owned by the Company at 31 March 2005, are

as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEAREME

Place of incorporation
or establishment/
operations

HEMRIL BRI,
EE R

32. XEHBAT
ARAEBHBAR (R-FFHF=
A=+—BHmAARARE) O

BT -

Nominal value of issued
and fully paid share
capital/registered capital
ERTRABRKRE

&t it AR 2 E B

Principal activities

TEER

Able Advance International
Limited

Lee & Man Industries
Company Limited

Lee & Man Paper
International Limited

Evergreen Trading
Company Limited

Lee Kwok (Macao
Commercial Offshore)
Trading Limited

ME CRPIBE =™ R R)
EZ5BRAA

Dongguan Lee & Man
Paper Factory Co., Ltd.
REBXGERHAER QA

British Virgin Islands
REBRUHS

British Virgin Islands
REBREUHS

British Virgin Islands
REBREUHS

Malaysia
SRR

Macau
S P

PRC (note)
AR (B )

Ordinary shares — US$4
Tk — 47T

Ordinary share — US$1
Tk — 1%&7T

Ordinary shares — US$100
L@/ — 100E T

Ordinary shares — US$2
L@l — 2% 7T

MOP100,000
B F9#5100,0007T

Registered capital —
Us$118,480,000

A ER —
118,480,0003 JT

Investment holding
REZERK

Investment holding
REZER

Investment holding
REZERK

Procurement of
raw materials

RE R

Procurement of
raw materials

REERH

Manufacturing of

paper
g is
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32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HE-_TTAF=RA=1T—HIFE

32. FEMBRE (&)

Place of incorporation
or establishment/

Nominal value of issued
and fully paid share

operations capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary MR, BRTRAZERE Principal activities
MEAR SR EE R &t it IR 2 E B FEXEK
Guangdong Lee & Man PRC (note) Registered capital — Manufacturing of

Paper Manufacturing
Limited (formerly
known as Dongguan
Gaobo Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited)
BREGERAR LA
(AiIBRZEY
BXERBRDR)

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Company
Limited

LERIENGER AR A A

Evergreen Pulp Inc.

Note: The companies are wholly foreign owned investment enterprises

established in the PRC.

With the exception of Able Advance International Limited, all

(B EE)

PRC (note)
b @ (1 %)

United States of America

xH

the subsidiaries are indirectly held.

US$6,514,000
EfMER —
6,514,000 7T

Registered capital —
US$90,000,000

EMER —
90,000,000 JT

Ordinary shares
— US$1,000
EBAX — 1,000% T

st %5
1

BT Able

Limited &b -

Advance
FRCEG N ENGIEE=Ti
ENHBAR -

paper
ER

Manufacturing of

paper
R

Manufacturing of
pulp
EER

AR ENFERIN2IIEERE

International




Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
Annual Report 2004/05

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the year, or at any time during the year.

32.

FTEMBLQAE (&)

EEZERA ERIHWARAMMER
A DEBFEAKERENEESRRA
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B X & & B B A A
& g 2004/05

FINANCIAL SUMMARY EREE

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=T—-BHLEE
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
—TT—F T _F —TT=F —_TTNF —BTIF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET T T TERT

RESULTS E
Turnover - 512,853 738,885 1,028,406 1,701,055 2,771,423
Profit before taxation B %4 Al & F 78,846 175,520 215,076 290,128 423,436
Taxation 18 (4) — (2,000) (5,250) (5,693)
Profit for the year FEAF 78,842 175,520 213,076 284,878 417,743
At 31 March
=A=+-—H
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

—ZET—F T -F —ZTT=F —TTNF ZZSZTHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT T T FTH T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEHERSE

Total assets B EBE 934,258 1,102,480 1,929,783 3,409,123 4,113,393
Total liabilities BEERE (814,080)  (807,822) (1,435,267) (1,505,725) (1,071,932)
Shareholders’ funds X R & & 120,178 294,658 494,516 1,903,398 3,041,461

Note: The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company  Kizt : ARGAIR_ZEZ=FHA_+—HRHESH

in the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and became the holding B EELRAEREAR  WERAS
company of the Group as a result of a group reorganisation in BEAMR T =FNLAKAREENZ
September 2003. The financial summary has been presented on the [RAR - BBREDRARGEREZ R
basis that the Company had been the holding company of the Group MRE - BEeAERZERAFGNEEMS
from the beginning of the earliest period presented. E
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